2009

Jensen v. Cunningham : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102\(3\)\(j\)](#).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that there is no historical or textual basis for interpreting the Utah Constitution differently than the federal constitution? Interpretation of the Utah Constitution is a question of law reviewed for correctness. [Snyder v. Murray City Corp.](#), 2003 UT 13, ¶ 17, 73 P.3d 325. This issue was preserved in the Jensens' opposition to the defendants' motions for summary judgment. ([R. 1271.](#))

2. Did the trial court otherwise err in ruling that the federal court's ruling was res judicata as to the Jensens' state law claims? Whether res judicata bars an action presents a question of law reviewed for correctness. [Mack v. Utah State Dept. of Comm.](#), 2009 UT 47, ¶ 26, --- P.3d ---. This issue was preserved in the Jensens' opposition to the defendants' motion for summary judgment. ([R. 1271.](#))

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

[Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 1](#) – “All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties; to acquire, possess and protect property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions, being responsible for the abuse of that right.”

[Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 7](#) – “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.”

[Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 14](#) – “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

On July 18, 2005, the Jensens filed an action asserting violations of the Utah and United States constitutions, wrongful initiation of process, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (R. 1-70.) The defendants removed the action to federal court based upon the presence of the federal constitutional claims. (R. 106-108.)

On September 22, 2008, U. S. District Court Judge Ted Stewart granted summary judgment to all remaining defendants on the federal constitutional claims. (See [Add. Exh. 3](#) (Memorandum Decision); *see also* R. 117-188.) That ruling is currently on appeal.

The federal court declined to exercise jurisdiction over the Jensens' state law claims, stating that "as [the Jensens'] Utah constitutional claims present important questions of state law, the Court declines to further exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims and will remand them to the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, from which this case was removed." *Id.*, p. 62.

On remand, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment on varying grounds. (R. 281, 947, 1012, 1089.) The trial court granted summary judgment to all defendants on the grounds that the federal court's dismissal of the federal claims was res judicata as to all of the Jensens' state law claims. (R. 4199; see [Addendum Exhs. 1 and 2.](#)) The Jensens timely appealed. (R. 4211.)

Statement of Facts¹

The record includes the following evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom:

On April 30, 2003, Barbara Jensen of Sandy, Utah, took her son Parker to an oral surgeon to remove a small growth under Parker's tongue that the family dentist had diagnosed as a clogged saliva duct ten months earlier. (R. 2332-2334, 3278-79, 3283.)

The oral surgeon also diagnosed the growth as a clogged saliva duct, but sent a sample to LabCorp for testing per standard procedure. (R. 1711-12, 3275-76.) He subsequently received a call from a LabCorp doctor who said the sample was malignant, but he was "not sure of the cell type." (R. 1713-14, 3287.) LabCorp later issued a report stating a diagnosis of "poorly differentiated small round blue cell tumor." (R. 3285-86.) That diagnosis could encompass up to 40 different tumor types, for which treatments vary. (R. 1756, 2688-89, 2737, 2791, 3192.) It is critical to make an accurate diagnosis of a patient's cancer type, both for treatment and prognosis. (R. 2738, 3199, 3210.)

The oral surgeon told the Jensens about the call, and said he had arranged for them to see an ear, nose & throat specialist (Dr. Muntz) at Primary Children's Medical Center. (R. 2334-35, 1715.) Dr. Muntz noted that the tumor type was unknown, writing: "The unusual presentation and slow growth of this makes me less concerned re: rhabdomyosarcoma but such tumors as alveolar soft part sarcoma and leiomyosarcoma, etc are possibilities." (R. 2335, 3320.) He referred the Jensens to the oncology

¹ In the federal court, the defendants' statements of fact totalled 194 pages; the Jensens submitted an additional 139 pages. Accordingly, this summary is significantly truncated. A full chronology is at R. 1130-1270.

department, where they met with defendant Lars Wagner, an assistant professor of pediatrics at the University of Utah. (R. 2336, 3147-48.) Wagner said he couldn't really do anything until he had his own facility's pathology report. (R. 2122, 3212-13.)

The pathologist on the case, Dr. Lowichik, began receiving unusually frequent phone calls from Wagner about Parker's case. (R. 2801-07.) Lowichik was not prepared to state definitely that the tumor was Ewing's, but she "did [her] best" to put it into a category. (R. 2793-95.) On May 20, 2003, she wrote that, from her examination, the results "suggest[ed] a diagnosis of Ewing's Sarcoma." (R. 2793-94, 2804, 3352-53.)

A number of factors militated against a finding of Ewing's, including:

- Only about 1 percent of all cancers are pediatric, of which Ewing's comprises only 3-5 percent. (R. 3269-70.)
- 80-90 percent of Ewing's patients have primary tumors in the bone, not soft tissue, and of the latter, most are in the deep soft tissue. (R. 2079-85, 3270.) Parker's growth was in the superficial soft tissue. (R. 2079-80, 2776, 3112.) Ewing's in the mouth would be even rarer. (R. 1520-21, 1790-91, 2078-79, 2808, 3259.)
- Ewing's is aggressive and fast-growing; Parker's was slow growing. (R. 1516, 1795, 2706-07, 3062, 3074, 3077.)

Lowichik's May 20 report stated: "DIAGNOSIS: SOFT TISSUE UNDER TONGUE, BIOPSY; EWING SARCOMA / PERIPHERAL PRIMITIVE NEUROECTODERMAL TUMOR (SEE COMMENT)." (Ewing's is often referred to as Primitive Neuroectodermal Tumor ("PNET") when located in the soft tissue. (R. 1521, 1751-52, 2047-48, 2092-2093.)) The "Comment" said, "In the event of excision of additional lesional tissue from this site, cytogenetic studies and freezing of tissue for possible molecular ancillary studies may be informative." (R. 3352-53.)

The Jensens were informed that Parker had Ewing's Sarcoma. A "margin" (removal of remaining malignant tissue with a margin of clean cells) was scheduled, but later canceled. (R. 2123-24, 2340, 2383-84.) The Jensens were told that chemotherapy would begin the following Tuesday (R. 2125), and began preparing for the upcoming ordeal. Barbara's brother moved in from Idaho to tend the other children, and they planned structural changes to their house. (R. 2125, 2296, 2307-08, 2611-12, 3278-79.)

Wagner said that Parker needed to begin chemotherapy immediately, that "we had two weeks because it was so aggressive." (R. 2166-67, 2340, 2415-16, 2650-51.) The Jensens asked if there were any other tests that would help confirm the diagnosis of Ewing's. Wagner said no. (R. 2150.) That statement was false. Wagner knew that:

- Cytogenetic and molecular testing, which had not been done, were reliable diagnostic tests for Ewing's (R. 1501-02, 3360), were routinely performed at PCMC in cases of suspected Ewing's (R. 1500, 1758-60, 2730-33, 2798, 3167-68, 3208, 3170, 3210-11), and were inexpensive. (R. 1792, 2799.)²
- The only testing that had been done (immunohistochemical) cannot definitively diagnose Ewing's, as markers indicative of Ewing's can also manifest with other things, including healthy tissue. (R. 1752, 2058, 2807, 3203-4, 3153, 3166.) Immunohistochemical testing also cannot detect an 11;22 translocation. (R. 2060.)

Wagner later testified that he declined to request genetic or molecular testing because it was not necessary and was not technically required by a Clinical Trial (AEWS0031) of which Wagner was a co-investigator. (R. 3164-65, 3180.) Although the

² Cytogenetic/molecular testing looks for a chromosomal translocation in which a specific gene (FLI1) within chromosome 11 has moved to chromosome 22, and a specific gene (EWS) within chromosome 22 has moved to chromosome 11. This "11;22 translocation" is found in 85-95 percent of Ewing's patients. (R. 2668, 3207, 3374.)

Clinical Trial says it “should NOT be used to direct the practice of medicine by any person or to provide individualized medical care, treatment, or advice to any patient or study subject” (emphasis in original), Wagner says that his handling of Parker’s case was pursuant to the AEWS0031 protocol. (R. 3180-3184; Case No. 2:05-cv-00739, Doc. 18 (Wagner Mem. Supp. Motion to Dismiss, November 22, 2005, p. 15 ¶ 38).)

The AEWS0031 Clinical Trial was for patients with newly diagnosed Ewing’s that had not metastasized (spread). (R. 3372.) Very few patients present with newly diagnosed, localized Ewing’s. (R. 1485, 2734-35, 2738, 3262.) If Wagner wanted to enroll Parker in the AEWS0031 Trial, he had to do so within 30 days of the “diagnostic biopsy.” (R. 0515, Ex. 65, p. 17.) Wagner calendared the date of biopsy as May 2. (R. 3378-79, 3382.) However, a medical article cited by Wagner measured the deadline from the date of diagnosis, which would have been May 20. (R. 3386.)

The AEWS0031 Trial “strongly recommended” molecular testing to confirm Ewing’s. (R. 3375.) Genetic/molecular testing was a reasonable request, and would have been performed had Wagner requested it. (R. 1537-40, 2781-82, 2815.) Defendant Albritton is unaware of anyone at PCMC ever refusing such testing. (R. 1539-40.)

Wagner claims that a pathologist, Cheryl Coffin, told him that genetic/molecular testing was not necessary. However, Coffin testified that she considers such testing “incredibly useful,” would not have been opposed if it had been requested, does not know why genetic/molecular testing was not done on Parker’s tissue, and is not aware of

anyone who was opposed to such testing. (R. 1774-75, 1770, 1793.)

Removing additional tissue from Parker's mouth (an "oncologic" excision) to obtain a new sample would also have alleviated a concern of Albritton's, which was that there were still tumor cells in Parker's mouth. Wagner falsely told Albritton that he had recommended an oncologic procedure to the Jensens. (R. 1503-1506.) However, when the Jensens asked about the originally scheduled margin, Wagner told them that, rather than removing the remaining tumor from Parker's mouth immediately, a second surgery would not be performed until after twelve weeks of chemotherapy (which was a requirement of the AEWS0031 Clinical Trial protocol). (R. 2135-36, 2353-54.)

The Jensens were confused. They had read that the first thing to do with cancer is get all of the cancerous material out. (R. 2645-46.) Dr. Albritton testified that it is important to get all of the tumor out as soon as possible; she cannot think of any good reason to leave part of it in. (R. 1528-29.)

Barbara Jensen again asked Wagner if there was any other test that would help confirm the diagnosis of Ewing's, and he said no. (R. 2154-55.) At this point, all other tests (x-rays, CT and bone scans, blood tests, MRI) had come back normal. (R. 0515 (Ex. 12, pp. 49-61), 2131, 2376-78, 3275-76, 3278-79, 3318-20, 3325.)

Another of Barbara's brothers referred the Jensens to a cancer specialist he knew in Oklahoma. This doctor told the Jensens that the staging process for Ewing's would include blood tests, x-rays, bone, CT, and PET scans, MRIs, and other tests like genetic tests. (R. 2125-26, 2152-53, 2342-43, 2345, 2482, 2645-46.) The Jensens told Wagner they wanted all the tests that this doctor mentioned and that they saw on the National

Cancer Institute and other websites, which included genetic testing. (R. 2361-62.)

Wagner now claims that he did not know that the Jensens were questioning the diagnosis, or he would have requested genetic/molecular testing. (R. 3237-38.) However, on May 21, 2003, the Jensens had asked Wagner to send a “blind” sample to Harvard University for testing, which Wagner admits was because they had a question about the diagnosis. (R. 2306, 2365-67, 3239.)

Wagner sent Parker’s slides to a pathologist at Harvard who was a fellow investigator for the AEWS0031 Clinical Trial (R. 3373, 3239). Instead of the blind second opinion the Jensens requested, however, Wagner sent an e-mail denigrating their request for a second opinion, and urging the pathologist to agree with the “confident” diagnosis by his “expert” pathologist as quickly as possible. He alerted his co-investigator that “the child was now 19 days post resection.” (R. 3427-28.) Wagner also said that he did not want to “slow things down” by submitting a claim to the Jensens’ insurer, and that the Jensens had agreed to pay for the testing personally. (R. 3428.)

Upon learning that Wagner had not honored their request for a blind second opinion, the Jensens decided to have the testing performed elsewhere. They did not have confidence that Wagner would obtain a truly independent opinion. (R. 2370-71, 2626.) The Jensens had believed the initial testing, but were starting to wonder both about the diagnosis and Wagner’s insistence on immediate chemotherapy. Some red flags:

- The Jensens could find no reported cases of Ewing’s in the mouth (R. 2164);
- The survival rates quoted by Wagner kept changing as he urged them to start chemotherapy (70, then 85, then 90 percent) (R. 2239-40, 2356, 2392-93, 2605-06), and Wagner seemed irritated by legitimate questions, such as why Parker

would need 45 weeks of chemotherapy if another biopsy at twelve weeks came back negative (R. 2357-58);

- Wagner had given them the names of the chemotherapy drugs that would be used by writing them on a napkin (R. 2400);
- A margin had been scheduled and then canceled, which seemed inconsistent with application of a standard procedure (R. 2124);
- Leaving a deadly tumor in Parker’s mouth for another three months seemed counterintuitive (R. 2645-46);
- Wagner insisted that Parker must be experiencing eating and sleeping difficulties and losing weight, which the Jensens told him was not happening (R. 2378-79);
- The Jensens asked Wagner about Lowichik’s comment that “cytogenetic” testing might be informative, but Wagner said it was unnecessary and did not explain why (R. 2372-75, 2395-96).

On May 28, 2003, the Jensens consulted with Dr. Judith Moore, a family doctor at the Modern Health Clinic in Bountiful that had successfully treated Barbara’s father for prostate cancer. (R. 2225-26.) The Jensens told Moore that, if they had an objective confirmation of Parker’s diagnosis, they would agree to chemotherapy. (R. 2960-61.) From Parker’s records and the length of time involved, Moore told the Jensens that she was not convinced that Parker had Ewing’s. (R. 1695, 2486, 2952-56, 2961.)

The Clinic’s treatment of Barbara’s father had been with a form of chemotherapy called Insulin Potentiation Therapy (IPT). (R. 2165, 2225-26.) The Jensens asked whether IPT might be a potential treatment if Parker had Ewing’s, and requested information to take to their oncologist. (R. 1691, 1693-94, 1700-01.) At a May 29, 2003, meeting, the Jensens asked Wagner to “look into” IPT. (R. 2139-41, 3395.)

At the meeting, Barbara said, “There’s got to be another test that can narrow it

down more than just maybe or invisible.” Wagner said there was not. (R. 2150, 2183-85.) Moore had recommended a PET scan, which Wagner admits are positive in most patients with Ewing’s, but Wagner refused the request. (R. 2380-81, 2947-48, 3218-20.)³

Daren expressed concern that treatment would not be effective unless the cancer were definitively identified, and said it seemed odd that the exact same treatment would be given to Parker as to someone with a large tumor in his leg. (R. 3395.) Daren’s instincts were correct. Several years earlier, superficial soft tissue Ewing’s had been identified as a prognostically favorable subset in which chemotherapy is not always administered. (R. 2080-83.) Parker’s growth was superficial and in the squamous epithelium (the tissue beneath the tongue, essentially a form of skin). (R. 2049-50, 2063-65.)

Since the LabCorp and PCMC reports did not state the same diagnosis, the Jensens asked Wagner to test another sample from Parker’s mouth, but Wagner refused. (R. 2401-02.) His response “floored” the Jensens, who thought, “why wouldn’t you do additional testing, even if it was just as a safety point[?]” (R. 2577-78.) Daren explained that he was “just trying to get enough information so I can determine how to proceed with Parker.” Wagner interrupted, “You don’t have the decision on how we treat Parker. You can be a part of the decision.” (R. 2402-03.)

Wagner told pathologist Lowichik that the Jensens had given him an article about

³ Moore then prescribed the PET scan, the results of which were normal. (R. 2947-48, 3525.) The PET scan did not show cancer in Parker’s mouth, where the cancer cells supposedly were located. (R. 2965-66.)

IPT in which a Ewing's patient had gotten better. Rather than show her the article, Wagner told her that the article was quite old and that immunohistochemistry had not been performed. He asked Lowichik to speculate, without reading it, on whether the patient in the article might not have had Ewing's. (R. 2801.)

On June 2, 2003, a social worker working with Wagner called defendant Kari Cunningham, a DCFS case worker, with a "heads up" that DCFS might become involved. (R. 1873.) On June 5, Wagner called Daren, who was out of town, and demanded that he come in. Wagner said that if he did not, Wagner would "take his child" in "three days." (R. 2405-06.) A meeting was scheduled for June 9. (R. 0515 (Ex. 15, p. 20); 2410-11.)

At the meeting, the Jensens again asked if a new sample could be taken and tested, but the request was refused. (R. 2417, 2422-23.) According to Wagner's notes, the Jensens were asked about their plans regarding IPT, and "[f]ather indicated that he was still reviewing this information." (R. 2644, 3408.) The Jensens complained that PCMC was jumping into treatment when they were still asking about the diagnosis. (R. 2161.)

A PCMC risk management employee in attendance then "leaned forward in her chair like she was picking up a card off the table and showed it to us like this." She said she didn't want to, but "I have a card to play." She said she could report the Jensens to DCFS and "have your child in three days." The Jensens replied, "We're going to go find another hospital that will work with us. You're fired." (R. 2156-57, 2162, 2412.)

On June 12, Wagner went to DCFS liaison Dr. David Corwin, reporting, "patient with Ewing's sarcoma; family refusing conventional therapy and seeking unproven

alternative treatment methods.” (R. 3378-79, 3396, 1810-11.) Wagner did not disclose that the Jensens were seeking confirmation of Parker’s diagnosis. *Id.*

Dr. Corwin called Daren Jensen, who expressed concern about Wagner’s refusal to run additional tests before starting chemotherapy. Daren stated that the Jensens had not decided that IPT was a solution for Parker, and mentioned that they were planning a margin to remove the surrounding tissue. (R. 1815, 1825, 2426-28, 2639.)

Daren agreed to another meeting. Dr. Corwin said he was going out of town for a few days, so a meeting was set for his return on Friday, which meeting it was believed Dr. Moore might attend. Corwin knew that the Jensens had confidence in Moore. (R. 1823-24, 1829, 1833, 2429, 2440.) Corwin told Wagner about the meeting, but Wagner said they could not wait that long. Corwin asked, “How much difference does a few days make?” but Wagner said it was “urgent.” (R. 1824-1830.) Corwin told Wagner that the Jensens were planning another resection of the tumor, which made sense to Corwin, but Wagner said no, it should be left in. (R. 1826-27.) Corwin assumed that, if other diagnostic tests were available that had not been run, Wagner would have told him. (R. 1819-1820.) At Wagner’s insistence, Corwin called Daren Jensen and canceled the meeting, stating that the Jensens would be reported to DCFS instead. (R. 2429.)

Meanwhile, Wagner falsely told his supervisor that he had provided all information he could to the family regarding the diagnosis, and that the Jensens had not given him any material on IPT. (R. 2754-55, 2760.) Wagner further said that Daren Jensen had canceled the meeting, and that “there were no further opportunities to meet with the Jensens[.]” (R. 2758-59, 2763, 2765.) Wagner also claimed to have discussed

numerous other things with the Jensens that he had not. (R. 2743-48, 2751-53.)

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