2009

# Jensen v. Cunningham : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

**Defendant Anderson.** Plaintiffs complained that Defendant Anderson violated their state and federal constitutional rights by (1) interfering with the Plaintiff parents’

ability to take P.J. to a physician of their choice, Add. D., Consol. Memo, pp. 59-63; (2) refusing to immediately dismiss the juvenile court action, *id.* at p. 63; (3) failing to disclose information to the juvenile court, *id.* at pp. 63-64; and (4) failing to properly train or supervise Defendant Cunningham. *Id.* at pp.58-9; 65-66. But Judge Stewart addressed and then rejected each, discrete issue. Add. C., D & O, 2008 WL 4372933 at \*\* 24-27.

Specifically, he found that Anderson's involvement in P.J.'s case did not begin until late August 2003 and was limited to negotiating a resolve to the case between the state and the Plaintiff parents. *Id.* \* 24; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, p 26-27. The Court determined that by the time Anderson became involved, the juvenile court previously had already "ordered P.J. to begin chemotherapy administered by a board-certified pediatric oncologist by August 8, 2003," D & O \*24, and had placed P.J. in the state's protective custody because the Plaintiff parents had, by then, missed that deadline. *Id.*; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, pp. 26. Judge Stewart found that Anderson's position that P.J. be treated by a board-certified pediatric oncologist was in accord with both the juvenile court's orders and the opinion of Dr. Tishler, a physician whom Parents self-selected. D & O \* 24; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, pp. 18-20, 26-27. Judge Stewart thus determined that Anderson's conduct was "narrowly tailored to serve the State's compelling interest in protecting P.J." *Id.*; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, pp. 27-28.

Judge Stewart next observed Anderson's remark that Plaintiffs were "great

parents,” but found that comment did not infer that Anderson believed Plaintiffs had not medically neglected P.J. D & O at \* 25; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, pp. 26-27. The court remarked, instead, that when viewed in context in which Anderson made this statement, it “in no way interfered with [Plaintiffs’] right to familial association or to [Parents’] right to direct P.J.’s care. D & O at \* 25.

Judge Stewart also underscored that Plaintiffs did “not direct[] the Court to evidence that Mr. Anderson knew the Juvenile Court was unaware of the possibility of genetic testing or that genetic tests were ‘definitive.’” *Id.* “Moreover,” that court observed, Plaintiffs “repeatedly stated their desire for further testing during the Juvenile Court proceedings.” *Id.* Finally, Judge Stewart found that Plaintiffs had adduced no evidence that Anderson understood that if Dr. Johnston diagnosed P.J. before genetic testing was complete that that breached the September 5 stipulation or resulted in a violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights because, as the court observed: “[Plaintiffs] refused to follow Dr. Johnston’s treatment recommendations, which lead to DCFS’s decision to dismiss the case shortly thereafter. The only action taken by the Juvenile Court subsequent to Dr. Johnston’s recommendation was to dismiss the case.” *Id.*; Statement of Fact, *supra*, pp. 28-29.

Judge Stewart then rejected Plaintiffs’ claim that Anderson failed to train and supervise Defendant Cunningham, finding that (1) Plaintiffs brought no evidence to the Court’s attention that could show, if true, that Anderson acted with “deliberate

indifference” to the rights of others in failing to train Ms. Cunningham; and (2) Plaintiffs failed to establish that Cunningham’s conduct violated their constitutional rights, a prerequisite to Anderson’s liability as a matter of law. D & O \* 26 (citations omitted); *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, pp. 26-27..

Finally, Judge Stewart observed that Plaintiffs’ procedural due process claim also failed, because Plaintiffs’ provided no evidence that DCFS possessed a policy of not investigating medical neglect referrals received from PCMC physicians and that the evidence Plaintiff did possess failed to support even the inference of such a policy. *Id.* \* 27; *see* Statement of Facts, *supra*, 26-27. But the court found instead, that even if Plaintiffs had provided such evidence, it would merely indicate that DCFS policy permitted a caseworker to initiate an action, without further investigation when the caseworker possessed objectively reasonable evidence that the case constituted an emergency. *Id.*

#### **B. Issue Preclusion Bars Plaintiffs’ Claims.**

Issue preclusion provides that a court’s final decision on an issue actually litigated and necessarily decided in a previous suit is conclusive on that issue in subsequent litigation. *Oman*, 2008 UT 70, ¶¶ 31-32 (“The issue was squarely before the federal court, was litigated by the parties, and was necessary to the court’s final judgment on the § 1983 claim”); *see* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 27 (1982). The doctrine is more than a court management tool, but is intended to relieve parties of the

cost and vexation of multiple lawsuits, conserve judicial resources, and encourage reliance on adjudication. *Id.* at ¶ 28.

Issue preclusion applies when:

(1) the issue previously decided is identical with the one presented in the action in question, (2) the prior action has been fully adjudicated on the merits; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was a party, or in privity with a party, to the prior adjudication, and (4) the party against whom the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action.

*Burrell v. Armijo*, 456 F.3d 1159, 1172 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) (citations and emphasis omitted); *see Oman*, 2008 UT 70, ¶ 28 n.5 (federal law applies to determine preclusive effect of federal court decision on a subsequent state court proceeding). Each element is satisfied.

First, the federal court's *Decision and Order* represents a final adjudication on the merits of Plaintiffs' federal claims and of the issues underlying those claims.<sup>8</sup> Next, the parties are identical in each action. Third, the prior summary judgment proceedings afforded Plaintiffs a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues at controversy here. And, the determinative issues decided by Judge Stewart are identical with the

---

<sup>8</sup> Plaintiffs take exception with that assertion. But Plaintiffs confuse issue preclusion with claim preclusion. The federal court did not adjudicate Plaintiffs' state law *claims*; the court remanded them. But where Plaintiffs' state claims embody the same facts and dispositive issues that the federal court determined by a final order, *issue* preclusion applies. *Oman*, 2008 UT 70, ¶ 31.

determinative issues presented here. *See supra*, pp 32-39.<sup>9</sup>

Despite this, Plaintiffs contend that issue preclusion does not apply to bar relitigation of issues decided within the same case. To support this claim, Plaintiffs rely on inapposite case law and dicta, that this Court can distinguish and disregard. *See Appnt. Br.* pp 63, 66 (citing *Payne for Hicks v. Churchich*, 161 F.3d 1030, 1037-38 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (finding under 28 U.S.C. § 1450 that in context of removal, prior *state order* was not conclusive, but was binding until set aside); *McIlravy v. Kerr-McGee Coal Corp.*, 204 F.3d 1031, 1034-35 & n. 1 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) (dicta).

In neither case was the appellate court faced with whether a *final* order dismissing a

---

<sup>9</sup> Plaintiffs contend that, in part, the issues presented in the state court differ from those presented in the federal court and assert that in Utah a party's intent presents an issue of fact. Namely, Plaintiffs argue that "the federal court's findings that misrepresentations made by . . . Cunningham were not made deliberately would be impermissible on summary judgment in state court." *Appnt. Br.*, pp 65-66. But that argument misstates the federal court's determination. Judge Stewart ruled that to the extent Plaintiff proved Cunningham made misrepresentations, they were not germane to the matters then before the juvenile court and they were therefore immaterial. *Add. C., D & O*, 2008 WL 4372933, \*23-24. The court also found that despite alleging that Cunningham engaged in a scheme of deliberate misrepresentations, Plaintiffs failed to produce any evidence to support that claim. *Id.*

Plaintiffs likewise insist that the state court was not bound to follow the federal court's determination that defendants acted "reasonably," because questions of "reasonableness" pose issues of fact best left to the jury. *Appnt. Br.* pp. 67-68. First, that contention is overbroad. *See D & K Mgmt.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶¶ 18-19 (courts should proceed with caution on fact-dependent questions, but courts are not required to draw remote or improbable inferences in favor a non-moving party). Second, none of the instances cited pertain to State Defendants. *See Appnt. Br.*, pp. 68-69.



claim could preclude relitigating the issues essential to that claim on remand.<sup>10</sup> But the majority of courts that have considered that issue, have found that issue preclusion may prevent relitigation of issues inside the same suit. *See, e.g., Vines v. Univ. of Louisiana at Monroe*, 398 F.3d 700, 710-11 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) (collateral estoppel precludes plaintiff from relitigating issues in remanded state case where they involve the same issues of ultimate fact determined by a prior, final federal judgment); *Thacker v. City of Hyattsville*, 762 A.2d 172, (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2000) (when federal court disposes of federal claim before trial, on remand to state court, collateral estoppel precludes relitigating issues the federal court actually decided); *cf. Jaskolski v. Daniels*, 905 N.E.2d 1, 13 (Ind. Ct. App. 2009) (finding no preclusion because federal court did not adjudicate determinative issue). *See also, Haase v. R & P Indus. Chimney Repair, Co.*, 409 N.W.2d 423, 426-27 (Wis. Ct. App. 1987) (issues determined by summary judgment dismissing co-defendant are binding and conclusive at later stage of same litigation), *rev. denied; Columbus Line, Inc. v. Gray-Line Sight Seeing Co.*, 120 Cal.App.Ct.3d 622, 628-30 (Cal. Ct. App. 1981) (collateral estoppel precludes relitigation of issues determined by prior summary judgment dismissing cross-complaint filed in same action); *Hicks v. Hicks*, 176 S.W. 2d 371, 374-75 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1943) (when issue has been finally determined, res judicata prevents relitigation

---

<sup>10</sup> This Court was also not faced with that issue in *D & K Management, Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 26 & n.20 (differentiating, in dicta, law of the case from res judicata).

of that issue whether in same or independent suit).

It is black letter law that “When an issue of fact or law is actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, and the determination is essential to the judgment, the determination is conclusive in a subsequent action between the parties, whether on the same or a different claim.” RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 27 (1982). That rule was created to ward off endless litigation and to ensure the stability of judgments. *See* 46 AM.JUR.2D Judgments § 515 (1994). And while the rule usually applies when an issue has been decided in one action and subsequently arises in a second, nothing in the rule’s rationale prevents its application within the four corners of the *same* litigation. The doctrine is intended to limit needless relitigation of issues. Because that rationale is not limited to only subsequent or independent actions, this Court should find that issue preclusion can apply to subsequent proceedings within the same action. *See e.g., Oman*, 2008 UT 70, ¶¶ 28, 31.

Here, the same material issues to Plaintiffs’ state law claims were squarely before the federal court; the parties actually litigated those issues; and the federal court’s final resolution of the issues was essential to that court’s section 1983 determination. *See* Discussion, *supra*, pp. 32-39. Those issue determinations became binding in the subsequent state court action. *See Oman*, 2008 UT 70 at ¶¶ 32-33.

Finally, Plaintiffs have not shown that sufficient policy reasons exist to ignore the preclusive effect of the federal court’s rulings. Plaintiffs urge that the state court

“should have viewed [Plaintiffs’] state constitutional claims independently of their federal claims,” Appnt. Br., pp 42-43, and that by viewing Plaintiffs’ state constitutional claims against the backdrop of issue preclusion, Judge Fratto subrogated Utah’s constitution to its federal counterpart. *Id.* at 37-43, generally. That argument misses the mark.

Judge Fratto, in fact, considered the scope of Plaintiffs’ state constitutional claims. But the court determined, that in the absence of evidence that Article I, sections 1, 7, and 14 provide these Plaintiffs with greater rights as a matter of state law, issue preclusion barred relitigation of the claims. See R. 4202-03, Memorandum Decision at pp. 4-5; R. 4220, Trans. of Hrg. at pp. 20-21, 27-28, 32-34, 39, 55, 69-72. That analysis was proper and was compelled because all of the defendants pled *res judicata* as an affirmative defense to Plaintiffs’ remanded state law claims.

The U.S. Supreme Court has counseled that as a threshold matter, a court must review the presented claims to determine the scope of the alleged constitutional right. *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386, 394 (1989). Judge Fratto did that. To determine the necessary scope of Plaintiffs’ Article I claims, the trial court examined the conduct that Plaintiffs maintain violated those rights. But because Plaintiffs, themselves, alleged the same conduct in support of their state law claims as they did in furtherance of their section 1983 claims, the federal court’s final determination of those issues became *res judicata* in the state court. See *Oman*, 2008 UT 70, ¶ 31. The factual underpinnings of

Plaintiffs' state law claims being conclusively established, Judge Fratto correctly granted summary judgment under the doctrine of issue preclusion.

**C. The Law of Case Precludes This Court From Re-examining Issues Determined by the Federal Court.**

The doctrine of law of the case also directs the finality of issues and provides that “a decision made on an issue during one stage of a case is binding in successive stages of the same litigation.” *D & K Mgmt.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 26 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). That doctrine, like issue preclusion, “was developed in the interest of economy and efficiency to avoid the delays and difficulties involved in repetitious contentions and reconsideration or rulings on matters previously decided in the same case.” *Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995). The law of the case can be discretionary or mandatory. *D & K Mgmt.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 27.

The law of the case is discretionary when a court is asked to reconsider its own, prior ruling or that of a co-equal judge or coordinate court in the same case. *See Thurston*, 892 P.2d at 1038; *D & K Mgmt.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 27. But when judgment is rendered, appealed, and the case remanded, the issues presented to the appellate court and the final rulings logically necessary to sustain

those conclusions also constitute law of the case. Its application under those circumstances is mandatory. *D & K Mgmt.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 28.

The mandate rule provides that final decisions become the law of the case that must be adhered to in subsequent proceedings in the same case. *Thurston*, 892 P.2d at 1037-38. The rule is inflexible and “must be followed even though the lower court subsequently addressing this issue may believe that the issue could have been better decided in another fashion.” *Id.*

Here, Plaintiffs sought the state court’s review of issues *finally* determined by the federal court – a non-coordinate court. This case thus tends toward the mandate rule. To hold otherwise permits a state court to exercise appellate jurisdiction over a federal court’s final decision – something the state court lacks jurisdiction to do. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78A-5-102 (West Supp. 2008) (setting out state district court jurisdiction).

But should this Court determine that the mandate rule does not apply, the trial court’s decision remains sound. Because under the discretionary rule, a court may depart from the law of the case only “(1) when there has been an intervening change of controlling authority; (2) when new evidence has become available; or (3) when the court is convinced that its prior decision was clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.” *Gildea v. Guardian Title Co.*, 2001 UT 75, ¶ 9, 31 P.3d 543. None of those exceptions applies here.

Whether under issue preclusion or law of the case, the district court correctly found that it was bound by the federal court's final and conclusive determination of the issues essential to Plaintiffs' state and federal claims. That decision, by any name, is sound. State Defendants ask this Court to affirm it.

## **II. THE UTAH CONSTITUTION PROVIDES PLAINTIFFS IN THIS CASE WITH NO BROADER PROTECTION THAN ITS FEDERAL COUNTERPART.**

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